A. Identity of Petitioner. Diana Shelby petitions this court to accept review 

of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this 

Petition. 

B. Court of Appeals Decision. Petitioner requests review of Court of 

Appeals decision in this case, which was filed with the Court of Appeals, 

Division ill, on September 4, 2014. There was not any motion for reconsideration. 

A copy of the decision is attached hereto in the appendix at pages A-1 through A-29.

C. Issues Presented for Review. 

Issue One: Did the Court of Appeals decision violate Diana Shelby's 

constitutional right to practice her chosen profession as a denturist? 

Issue Two: Was the Department of Health Order supported by evidence that 

was substantial when viewed in light of the whole record before the court? 

Issue Three: When the standard of proof is clear and convincing evidence, 

is the reviewing court required to review the administrative record to determine 

whether the evidence contained in the administrative record is substantial in light of 

the "highly probable" test that is required for cases that have a burden of proof of 

clear and convincing evidence? 

D. Statement of the Case. Diana S. Shelby, a denturist, began the process of 

providing a denture to Patient A on March 30, 2007 (CP 599). First, Shelby sold 

Patient A a temporary denture (CP 519). Then, Shelby provided care until 
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December 4, 2007 (CP 563). 

The normal useful life of a temporary denture is approximately six months 

(CP 344 {p. 17}, 392, 694, 721, 765). Beginning October 30, Shelby instructed 

Patient A to replace the temporary denture with a permanent denture (CP 532), but 

Patient A did not do so, because Patient A could not afford to pay for a permanent 

denture (CP 617). 

The Health Services Consultant of the Denturist Program (Program), as 

designee of the Secretary of the Department of Health, brought an administrative 

proceeding against Shelby. The Program filed with the Department Amended 

Statement of Charges, requesting that the Department impose sanctions upon Shelby 

pursuant to RCW 18.130.160. 

The pertinent allegations of the Amended Statement of Charges stated as 

follows: 

A. Respondent did not adequately bind the denture's teeth to the 
denture base, causing them to repeatedly break off; 

B. Respondent poorly constructed the denture, causmg 
malocclusion; 

C. Respondent did not adequately address the porous nature of the 
denture's acrylic which: 

1. Caused multiple fractures during the treatment period. 

2. Made the denture susceptible to bacteria, subjecting the 
patient to the risk of illness. 
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D. Respondent left soft temporary liners in the patient's mouth for 
too long, which made them susceptible to bacteria, subjecting 
the patient to the risk of illness; 

E. Respondent failed to offer and/or provide services of a nature 
or in a manner that resolved the above problems or met the 
standard of care. 

Based upon those charges, the Program alleged that Shelby "has committed 

unprofessional conduct in violation ofRCW 18.130.180(4)" (Amended Statement 

of Charges). An administrative law judge (ALJ) concluded that Shelby had 

committed unprofessional conduct and imposed sanctions including suspension of 

her license to practice as a denturist "for a period of at least two years". 

Shelby petitioned the superior court for judicial review of that decision. The 

superior court affirmed the decision of the ALJ. The Court of Appeals affirmed the 

superior court. Shelby now petitions the Supreme Court for review of the decision 

of the Court of Appeals. 

Shelby was a denturist continuously from 1999 until December of2009, when 

her denturist license was suspended as a result of this proceeding (CP 777). Before 

1999, there was no requirement in the State ofW ashington oflicensing for denturists, 

but Shelby practiced as a denture lab technician, constructing dentures, from 

approximately 1974 through 1984 (CP 777). Since 2005, Shelby has treated 

approximately 3,000 patients (CP 777). 

Shelby began the process of providing a denture to Patient A on March 30, 
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2007 (CP 599). Patient A understood that this denture was temporary (CP 614). 

Patient A paid $413.25 for this temporary denture (CP 614). Patient A understood 

when she contracted for the temporary denture that she would need to replace it with 

a permanent denture after six to 10 months (CP 614). 

On June 21, 2007, Shelby relined the temporary denture with a soft liner 

called Lynal (CP 562). At that appointment, Shelby also instructed Patient A 

regarding the proper use of the over-the-counter product Denturite (CP 798). 

Patient A disobeyed Shelby's instructions to use Denturite (CP 800). 

Patient A testified that she "started having trouble" with the denture when she 

''would eat something, and a tooth would come out." (CP 530). Patient A said that 

the first broken tooth was on September 18, 2007 (CP 530). On October 30, 2007, 

another tooth of the denture broke off (CP 602). The denture had not lost ''teeth" 

until the second tooth was lost on October 30,2007 (CP 562). 

At the appointment to fix the broken tooth on October 30, Shelby told 

Patient A to replace the temporary denture with a permanent denture or have the 

temporary denture relined and Patient A understood these instructions ( CP 5 32, 617, 

683, 806). 

There is no evidence that Shelby instructed Patient A to continue using the 

temporary denture after October 30. The testimony of Patient A shows that Shelby 

did not give such an instruction. 
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One of the Program's experts, Vallon Charron, admitted that Shelby's 

treatment record says that Patient A was ready for reline or complete upper denture 

( CP 683 ). Patient A did not obey Shelby's instruction because Patient A did not have 

the fmancial ability to pay for either service (CP 532, 616). In January, 2008, Patient 

A purchased a permanent denture from Joseph Vize for a price of "a little over 

$1,000" (CP 544). 

Shelby offered the relining option only in the event that Patient A could not 

afford a new denture (CP 805). She said, "Something needs to be done for people 

who can't afford a new denture." (CP 805). When Shelby was asked whether the 

relining would be intended to make the temporary denture into a permanent denture, 

she answered, ''No, just to get by with until they can afford a new denture." ( CP 805). 

Shelby's prices were $250 for a reline and $900 for a new denture (CP 805). 

On February 4, 2008, Patient A wrote a letter to Shelby threatening to 

complain to the Department of Health unless Shelby paid Patient A a "refund" (CP 

564 ). However, the amount of money that Patient A demanded was $770 rather than 

a refund of the $413 that Patient A had paid Shelby (CP 557, 620). When Shelby 

declined to pay the $770 to Patient A, then Patient A made a complaint to the 

Department of Health (CP 620). Patient A testified that Vize told Patient A to 

complain to the Department of Health (CP 540), but Vize denied it (CP 767). 
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Finding of Fact 1.21. states as follows: 

It was a violation of the denturist standard of care to instruct 
Patient A to continue to use a temporary denture when the 
denture was a poor fit, it fractured and lost teeth, and the pain 
and discomfort associated with the denture could not be 
alleviated by the denturist or by the Patient using over-the
counter products (CP 395). 

Finding ofF act 1.21 vaguely refers to a time when the judge decided that it 

was a violation of the standard of care to instruct Patient A to continue to use a 

temporary denture. That time was "when" three different events had all happened, 

as follows: "(1) the denture was a poor fit; and (2) it fractured and lost teeth; and (3) 

the pain and discomfort ... could not be alleviated ... " 

The record shows that ''when" the denture "lost teeth" was October 30, 2007 

(CP 532). The denture lost a tooth, not teeth, on September 18 (CP 530). "Teeth" 

had not been lost until a second tooth was lost on October 30 (CP 562). There is no 

evidence that, before October 30, the denture was a "poor fit" or that it had fractured. 

Thus, the earliest date to which the "when" of Finding of Fact 1.21 could have 

referred was October 30. 

Interpreting Finding of Fact 1.21 in conjunction with the undisputed facts 

results in a conclusion that the beginning of what the ALJ said was unprofessional 

conduct was on October 30, 2007. This brief previously gave details regarding the 

fact that Shelby never instructed Patient A to continue to use the temporary denture 
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after October 30. 

The experts on behalf of the Department of Health, Vallon Charron and 

Joseph Vize, asserted that Shelby violated the standard of care for a denturist in 

certain ways. All of their testimony that was negative towards Shelby was based 

upon incorrect assumptions regarding the facts of the underlying occurrence. Shelby 

did not violate the standard of care for a denturist. All of the expert testimony of 

Charron and Vize that asserted otherwise lacked factual foundation. 

E. Argument Why Review Should Be Accepted. 

Issue One 

Shelby has a constitutional right to practice her chosen profession as a 

denturist. Nguyen v. State, 144 Wn.2d 516, 29 P.3d 689 (2001); Ongum v. 

Department of Health, 159 Wn.2d 132, 148 P.3d 1029 (2006). Although the 

Administrative Law Judge ( ALJ) gave lip service to this requirement, the ALJ did not 

actually follow this requirement. Thus, the decision of the ALJ violated Shelby's 

constitutional right to practice her chosen profession. The Court of Appeals failed to 

review the administrative record according to the standard of review that is required 

in cases where a constitutional right is threatened. 

Issue Two 

RCW 34.05.570(3)( e) requires reversal of any administrative agency decision 

that is not supported by substantial evidence "when viewed in light of the whole 
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record before the court". A copy of RCW 34.05.570 is attached hereto in the 

appendix at pages A-30 through A-32. There is substantial public interest in the 

issue of whether substantial evidence supports an administrative agency decision that 

revokes or suspends a professional license. 

The Court of Appeals erred by taking expert witness testimony out of context. 

None of the opinions of expert witnesses upon which the Court of Appeals relied are 

based upon the underlying facts. All of the expert opinions upon which the Court of 

Appeals relied are based upon false assumptions by the expert witnesses regarding 

the underlying facts of the occurrence. Therefore, the expert opinions upon which 

the Court of Appeals relied do not constitute substantial evidence ''when viewed in 

light of the whole record before the court". 

Issue Three 

In Re Estate of Reilly, 78 Wn.2d 623,479 P.2d 1 (1970), made a fundamental 

policy decision regarding the standard of review in cases where the burden of proof 

is clear and convincing evidence. The court did not allow the trial judge discretion 

to decide whether the evidence was sufficient to satisfy that burden of proof. Instead, 

the court made an independent determination of whether the trial judge was correct 

in determining that the evidence was sufficient to be clear and convincing. 

In order for a factual determination to be sustained on appeal when the burden 

of proof is clear and convincing, the evidence must be more substantial than when 

8 



the burden of proof is a preponderance. The existence of some evidence in support 

of the decision of the trial judge is not necessarily sufficient to justify affirming the 

decision when clear and convincing proof is required. In Re Estate of Reilly, supra, 

said, "Evidence which was 'substantial' to support a preponderance may not be 

sufficient to support the clear, cogent, and convincing requirements ... " 

The majority opinion in In Re Estate of Reilly, supra, is 65 pages long. 

Approximately 60 pages contain a detailed analysis of the facts. The Supreme Court 

reversed the decision of the trial court despite the existence of substantial evidence 

that supported it. See the dissent for a presentation of substantial evidence that 

supported the factual determination of the trial judge. 

At page 639, the majority stated as follows: 

As pointed out elsewhere in this opinion, the contestants had 
the burden of proving by clear, cogent, and convincing 
evidence that either the testatrix lacked testamentary capacity 
to make her will or that it was the product of undue influence 
by some other person. 

The dissenting opinion quotes two sentences from In Re 
Kleinlein's Estate, 59 Wn.2d 111,366 P.2d 186(1961), to the 
effect that this court's sole power is to ascertain whether the 
findings are supported by substantial evidence. We have no 
quarrel with this statement, but when read in context with the 
facts of Kleinlein it has no relevance to the issue before us. 
The statement was made in connection with consideration of 
the issue of testamentary capacity and must be read as a part 
of the further statement by the court that the fmdings by the 
trial court that the testatrix lacked testamentary capacity was 
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... abundantly supported by the proofs and, 
indeed, any other conclusion would be 
preposterous. 

The autopsy confirmed the opinion of the 
attending physician that Mrs. Kleinlein 
suffered from senile dementia. The brain 
tissue had so far dissolved that only twenty
five per cent of the gray matter remained. The 
classical fmdings of senile dementia were 
confirmed by the Post mortem examination. 
(p. 113, 366 P.2d p. 187.) 

Therefore, this court reached a proper result even under the 
clear, cogent, and convincing test. Evidence which was 
"substantial" to support a preponderance may not be sufficient 
to support the clear. cogent, and convincing requirements 
with which we are faced. (emphasis added) 

This was a clear statement that the majority rejected the contention of the 

minority that a normal standard of review should be applied to the factual 

determinations of the trial court in cases in which the burden of proof is clear and 

convincing evidence. The factual determination of the trial judge was reversed even 

though there was substantial evidence to support it. 

In Re Sego, 82 Wn.2d 736, 513 P.2d 831 (1973), held that clear and 

convincing evidence is required to sustain an order permanently depriving a parent 

of custody. The court said that requiring clear and convincing evidence is the 

equivalent of saying that the ultimate fact must be shown to be highly probable. 

Concerning the scope of review, the court stated the following, at p. 739 - 740: 
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We are firmly committed to the rule that a trial court's findings of 
fact will not be disturbed on appeal if they are supported by 
"substantial evidence". (Citation omitted) Nevertheless, evidence 
that may be sufficiently "substantial" to support an ultimate fact in 
issue based upon a "preponderance of the evidence" may not be 
sufficient to support an ultimate fact in issue, proof of which must be 
established by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence. See In Re 
Estate of Reilly (supra). Thus, the question to be resolved is not 
merely whether there is "substantial evidence" to support the trial 
court's ultimate determination of the factual issue but whether there 
is "substantial evidence" to support such findings in light of the 
"highly probable" test. (emphasis added) 

As an appellate tribunal, we are not entitled to weigh either the 
evidence or the credibility of witnesses even though we may disagree 
with the trial court in either regard. The trial court has the witnesses 
before it and is able to observe them and their demeanor upon the 
witness stand. It is more capable of resolving questions touching 
upon both weight and credibility than we are. (Citation omitted) Our 
duty, on review, is to determine whether there exists the necessary 
quantum of proofto support the trial court's findings of fact and order 
of permanent deprivation. 

In Re Sego, supra, cited with approval In Re Reilly's Estate, supra. Then, the 

court said that its duty "is to determine whether there exists the necessary quantum 

of proof to support the trial court's findings of fact". The trial court was affirmed 

only because the Supreme Court independently determined that the evidence was 

substantial enough to meet the clear and convincing standard. 

Similarly, appellate review of factual findings by the trial court has also been 

more stringent in cases involving constitutional rights. State v. Huston, 71 Wn.2d 

226, 428 P.2d 547 (1967). This case has both a requirement of proof by clear and 
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convincing evidence and involvement of a constitutional right. 

In State v. Huston, supra, the Supreme Court engaged in a more stringent 

review of the factual determination of the trial court. This time, it was because ofthe 

need to protect constitutional rights. The court stated as follows, at p. 231 - 232: 

While we are not required to search the record for errors not clearly 
assigned, the review of a case where a confession is involved presents 
the reviewing authority with a delicate problem. The trial court has 
already made a factual determination based upon conflicting 
evidence. Normally, it is not the proper function of the appellate 
court to review such fmdings when supported by credible evidence. 
(citation omitted) 

Yet. we must not blindly accept such fmdings. particularly where 
constitutional rights are involved. (emphasis added) In State v. 
Hoffman, 64 Wn.2d 445, 392 P.2d 237 (1964), we said: 

Although we will and do attach significant weight to 
findings of fact upon disputed issues arising under 
Rule 101.20W, supra, we cannot blindly and 
conclusively accept such as indisputably establishing 
the pertinent facts. It is our duty and obligation. 
where basic constitutional rights are involved, to 
carefully review the record brought before us and 
determine therefrom whether the bounds of due 
process requirements have been exceeded. (citations 
omitted) We are mindful, in this respect, that it is not 
our function to re-evaluate the credibility of the 
witnesses testifying. (citation omitted) Our prime 
concern is that it be convincingly evident from the 
record that constitutional privileges have not been 
abused. Strained findings of fact, predicated upon 
translucent or sophisticated evidence, cannot stand. 
(emphasis added) 
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Thus, the standard of review in this case requires the Court of Appeals to 

examine the record and determine whether there is sufficient "quantum of proof' to 

support the ALJ' s Findings ofF act under the "highly probable" test that applies when 

the burden of proof is clear and convincing evidence. 

F. Conclusion. Shelby requests that the Supreme Court dismiss the 

administrative proceeding of the Department of Health and award her all of her 

reasonable expenses of defending this proceeding, including reasonable attorney fees. 

DATED this 15th day of September, 2014. 

DAVID R. HEVEL WSBA #6097 

Bya8dd~~ 
Attorney for Petitioner 

CERTIFICATE 

I certify that on September 15, 2014, I mailed, postage prepaid, a copy of the 
foregoing Brief of Petitioner to Richard A. McCartan, Assistant Attorney General, 
P.O. Box40109, Olympia, WA 98504-0109,andtoReneeS. Townsley, Clerk, Court 
of Appeals, Division ill, 500 N. Cedar St., Spokane, WA 99201-1905. 

~~/ 
DAVID R. HEVEL WSBA #6097 
Attorney for Petitioner 
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APPENDIX 

Attached is a copy of the Court of Appeals decision in this case and a copy 

ofRCW 34.05.570. 
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UNPUBLISHED OPINION 

SIDOOWAY, C.J.- Diana Shelby, a licensed denturist, appeals the outcome of an 

administrative proceeding against her by the Washington State Department of Health, 

which was affinned by the Benton County Superior Court. She assigns error to 

16 findings of fact and 4 conclusions of law, and contends that the evidence was 

insufficient to support the tier of sanctions imposed by the health law judge. We find no 

error and affirm. 

FACTS AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

Diana Shelby became a licensed denturist under chapter 18.30 RCW in 1999. 

In February 2008, one of Ms. Shelby's former patients filed the following 

complaint with the Washington State Department of Health: 

During the 6 to 7 months that I had Ms. Shelby's ''temporary" 
denture I had first 1 tooth come out after 3~ months ofwear. After about a 
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week after the 1st tooth came out a 2nd tooth came out. Ms. Shelby fixed 
both times. Because the 2 teeth came out so easily I went to another 
denturist. While at First Choice Dentures a crack in the denture was 
discovered. I then took the denture back to Ms. Shelby & she fixed it. 
While I was waiting until the first of the year so my Dad would have 
enough money to get my permanent denture[,] I had 3 more teeth come out 
of the denture & a large crack appeared. So I decided to get my new 
denture from 1st Choice Denture & I asked for my money back from Ms. 
Shelby. She refused. 

I am sending you pictures of the infearior [sic] material & or job that 
she did. I'm also sending you the letter that she wrote me in return, instead 
of sending me a refund. She basicly [sic] accused me ofbeing stupid & 
[Joseph] Vize of stealing clients. For most of the time that I had Ms. 
Shelby's denture I was unable to use it due to teeth coming out & or cracks 
recurring while eating. 

Clerk's Papers (CP) at 174-75. 

Following an investigation, the department filed a statement of charges of 

unprofessional conduct against Ms. Shelby, alleging that teeth had not been adequately 

bound to the patient's denture base, causing them to break off repeatedly, and that the 

porous nature of the denture's acrylic caused multiple fractures during the treatment 

period. Ms. Shelby requested a hearing to contest the charges. 

Before the hearing, the department amended its statement of charges to identify· 

the following five respects in which it alleged that Ms. Shelby's treatment of the patient 

fell below the standard of care of a Washington denturist: 

[1] Respondent did not adequately bind the denture's teeth to the 
denture base, causing them to repeatedly break off; 

(2] Respondent poorly constructed the denture, causing 
malocclusion; 

2 
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[3] Respondent did not adequately address the porous nature of 
the denture acrylic which: 

[ c ]aused multiple fractures during the treatment period [and] 
[m]ade the denture susceptible to bacteri~ subjecting the 
patient to the risk of illness; 

[4] Respondent left soft temporary liners in the patient's mouth 
for too long, which made them susceptible to bacteria, subjecting the 
patient to the risk of illness; [and] 

[5] Respondent failed to offer and/or provide services of a nature 
or in a manner that resolved the above problems or met the standard of care. 

CP at 372. 

A hearing was held over three days, at which the department called four witnesses: 

Ms. Shelby; the patient; Val Cherron, a denturist retained by the department as an expert; 

and Joseph Vize, the patient's treating denturist following her treatment by Ms. Shelby. 

Ms. Shelby testified on her own behalf, questioned the patient further, and called as her 

own expert witness, Dr. Michael Shannon, a dentist with training in denture construction. 

Having heard the evidence and argument, the health law judge concluded that the 

department had proved that Ms. Shelby committed unprofessional conduct based on 

fmdings (among others) that the cause of teeth falling out of the denture was its improper 

construction due to an improper bond between the denture acrylic and the denture teeth; 

that the cause of fractures in the denture was also its improper construction, due to the 

porous nature of the denture acrylic; that "[i]t was a violation of the denturist standard of 

care to instruct [the patient] to continue to use a temporary denture when the denture was 

a poor fit, it fractured and lost teeth, and the pain and discomfort associated with the 
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denture could not be alleviated by the denturist or by the [patient] using over-the-counter 

products"; and that 

[t]he problems with the denture as constructed could not be remedied by 
repairing the dentUre. [Ms. Shelby] should not have offered to reline the 
denture since the reline would not have corrected the problems with 
improper construction. Under the denturist standard of care, [Ms. Shelby] 
should have constructed a new denture for [the patient] at no cost to the 
patient. This should have occurred without regard to the life of the original 
temporary denture. 

CP at 395. The health law judge imposed a two-year suspension of Ms. Shelby's 

denturist license, a $5,000 fine, and required Ms. Shelby to refund all fees she had 

charged the patient for treatment. 

Ms. Shelby's motion for reconsideration was denied, after which she petitioned for 

judicial review. After the Benton County Superior Court upheld the department's final 

order, Ms. Shelby filed this appeal. 

ANALYSIS 

I. Standard of Review 

Well settled law governs our review of the decision of an administrative agency. 

We review the decision from the same standpoint as the trial court, and apply the 

exclusive bases for relief from agency orders in adjudicative proceedings set forth in the 

Administrative Procedure Act (APA), chapter 34.05 RCW, directly to the record before 

the agency. Lewis County v. W. Wash. Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd., 157 Wn.2d 488, 

497, 139 P.3d 1096 (2006). We will grant relief from the health law judge's order only if 

4 
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we fmd one of the defects identified in RCW 34.05.570(3) as warranting relief. Lewis 

County, 157 Wn.2d at 498. The party asserting the invalidity of agency action has the 

burden of demonstrating error. RCW 34.05.570(1)(a). 

Ms. Shelby challenges the health law judge's order as unsupported by substantial 

evidence as required by RCW 34.05.570(3)(e), which provides for relief where "[t]he 

order is not supported ·by evidence that is substantial when viewed in light of the whole 

record before the court." Where an agency decision is challenged on that basis, we must 

determine "whether there is 'a sufficient quantity of evidence to persuade a fair-minded 

person of the truth or correctness of the order.'" Kittitas County v. E. Wash. Growth 

Mgmt. Hearings Bd., 172 Wn.2d 144, 155, 256 P.3d 1193 (2011) (internal quotation 

marks omitted) (quoting Thurston County v. W. Wash. Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd., 164 

Wn.2d 329,341, 190 P.3d 38 (2008)). 

The substantial evidence standard is highly deferential to the agency fact fmder, 

and requires us to view the evidence in the light most favorable to the prevailing party in 

the highest administrative fact finding forum below. Arco Prods. Co. v. Utils. & Transp. 

Comm'n, 125 Wn.2d 805, 812, 888 P.2d 728 (1995). Deference is given to the trier of 

fact regarding witness credibility or conflicting testimony and we do not weigh the 

evidence or substitute our judgment. Phoenix Dev., Inc. v. City of Woodinville, 171 

Wn.2d 820, 831-32, 256 P.2d 1150 (2011). We need not be persuaded of the truth or 

correctness of an agency's fmdings, only that any fair-minded person could have ruled as 

5 
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the agency did in light of the evidence. Callecod v. Wash. State Patrol, 84 Wn. App. 

663,676 n.9, 929 P.2d 510 (1997). 

The health law judge treated the department's proceeding as implicating a 

significant property interest on Ms. Shelby's part in her denturist license, and for that 

reason held the department to a burden of proving its charges by clear, cogent, and 

convincing evidence. Bang D. Nguyen v. Dep ,t of Health, Med. Quality Assurance 

Comm 'n, 144 Wn.2d 516, 29 P.3d 689 (2001). The department did not object to the 

heightened standard. 1 When fmding unprofessional conduct, an administrative agency 

may use its experience and specialized knowledge to evaluate and draw inferences from 

the evidence. RCW 34.05.452(5); In re Disciplinary Proceeding Against Brown, 94 Wn. 

App. 7, 13-14, 972 P.2d 101 (1998). 

Ms. Shelby argues that the clear and convincing standard applied by the health law 

judge implicates a corresponding duty on our part to make an "independent determination 

1 For the first time on appeal, the department argues that Hardee v. Department of 
Social & Health Services, 112 Wn.2d I, 9, 256 P.3d 339 (2011) has since made clear that 
the clear and convincing standard applies to only those license revocation proceedings in 
which the value of the property interest at stake requires a heightened standard of proof 
as a matter of due process, that not all occupations require an identical personal 
investment, and that not all state-granted credentials constitute a professional license. 
The department now submits that Ms. Shelby's investment oP"time, expense, and 
education'" in her denturist license is insufficient to require the heightened burden of 
proof and that we may apply a preponderance of evidence standard in reviewing the 
record. Br. ofResp't at 8 (quoting Hardee, 112 Wn.2d at 16). We will not entertain a 
challenge for the first time on appeal to an assertedly too-high burden of proof applied 
without objection below. RAP 2.5(a). 
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of whether the trial judge was correct in determining that the evidence was sufficient to 

be clear and convincing," relying on In re Estate of Reilly, 78 Wn.2d 623, 479 P.2d I 

(1970), a case involving a will contest. Br. of Appellant at 29. Washington courts have 

declined to accept the invitation to "fashion a new and higher standard of review for 

appeals in medical disciplinary proceedings." Ancier v. Dep 't of Health, Med. Quality 

Assurance Comm 'n, 140 Wn. App. 564, 572-73 n.l2, 166 P .3d 829 (2007). The standard 

of appellate review has been established by the legislature. "Appellate courts do not 

reweigh the evidence but are limited to assessing whether that evidence was adequate to 

satisfy the applicable burden of proof below"-in this case, clear and convincing 

evidence. /d. 

Ms. Shelby assigns error to a number of findings of fact and conclusions of law, 

and contends that the evidence was insufficient to support the tier of sanctions imposed 

by the health law judge. We first address her challenges to specific findings and 

conclusions and then turn to her challenge to the sanctions. 

II. Challenged Findings and Conclusions 

The health law judge organized his fmdings of fact into sections; Ms. Shelby 

assigns error to fmdings included in his introduction, in the "denturist standard of care" 

section, and in the section addressing Ms. Shelby's treatment of the complaining patient. 

We address the challenged findings by section. 
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A. Introductory Finding 

Finding 1.2. Ms. Shelby assigns error to the statement in fmding 1.2 that "[t]he 

Respondent's treatment of Patient A did not meet the denturist standard of care." CP at 

391. This overarching finding in the introduction is supported by the health law judge's 

more specific findings as to the relevant standard of care and as to Ms. Shelby's acts and 

omissions. The specific findings were addressed in the next several sections of the health 

law judge's findings, which we examine below. 

B. "Denturist Standard of Care" Findings 

To determine whether Ms. Shelby's treatment complied with the standard of care 

of a denturist treating patients in Washington, the health law judge first had to determine 

the applicable standard of care, which he did in his fmdings 1.5 through 1.13. 

Findings 1.5, 1.6, and 1.13. In challenging findings 1.5, 1.6, and 1.13, Ms. Shelby 

argues that if taken literally, each is "an insignificant general statement." Br. of 

Appellant at 38-40. They can be taken literally. None of these findings purports to 

address whether Ms. Shelby met the standard of care. Ms. Shelby does not argue that 

findings 1.5, 1.6, or 1.13 incorrectly state the standard of care of a Washington denturist. 

Finding 1.11. Ms. Shelby challenges fmding 1.11 's statement that "[ o ]ffering a 

patient the option of relining a problem temporary denture into a permanent denture when 

the problems associated with the denture cannot be remedied[ ] does not meet the 
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denturist standard of care." CP at 392. She argues that "[n]o expert testified that this 

violated the standard of care." Br. of Appellant at 39. 

Ms. Shelby is mistaken; the testimony of two experts supported this important 

finding. Mr. Cherron testified:

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