RECEIVED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
Oct 16, 2014, 12:15 pm  
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER  
CLERK

NO. 90783-8

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

---

**SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

---

DIANA SHELBY,

Petitioner,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH,

Respondent.

---

**DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH ANSWER TO STATEMENT FOR  
JUDICIAL REVIEW**

---

ROBERT W. FERGUSON  
Attorney General

RICHARD A. MCCARTAN  
Senior Counsel  
WSBA No. 8323  
7141 Cleanwater Ln SW  
PO Box 40109  
Olympia, WA 98504-0109  
(360) 664-4998  
Office ID #91030

 ORIGINAL

**

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

### IV. ARGUMENT

RAP 13.4(b) governs whether a petition for review should be accepted. It states:

---

<sup>2</sup> In her petition for review, Ms. Shelby does not directly contest the sanctions but instead argues that the underlying findings of fact are unsupported by substantial evidence.

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court;
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals;
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Though Ms. Shelby's petition for review does not cite to RAP 13.4(b), her arguments appear to rely on grounds (3) and (4). Petition (Pet.) at 7-8. The Court should not accept review under either ground.

**A. There Is No Significant Question Of Constitutional Law Because the Health Law Judge Applied the Clear and Convincing Evidence Burden of Proof**

Ms. Shelby alleges that the Court of Appeals "failed to review the administrative record according to the standard of review that is required in cases where a constitutional right is threatened." Pet. at 7. More specifically, she alleges that the Court of Appeals failed to "examine the record and determine whether there is a sufficient 'quantum of proof' to support the HLJ's Findings of Fact under the 'highly probable' test that

applies when the burden of proof is clear and convincing evidence.” Pet. at 13. As explained below, this allegation is without merit.

Upon judicial review, an agency decision will be upheld when supported by “evidence that is substantial when viewed in light of the whole record before the court.” RCW 34.05.570(3)(e). Substantial evidence means substantial evidence that is necessary to meet the agency’s burden of proof. *See In re Estate of Reilly*, 78 Wn.2d 623, 639, 479 P.2d 1 (1970); *In re Sego*, 82 Wn.2d 736, 739, 513 P.2d 831 (1973). *Ancier v. Dep’t of Health Med. Quality Assurance Comm.*, 140 Wn. App. 564, 572-73 n.12, 166 P.3d 829 (2007).

In reviewing the evidence, the Court of Appeals properly recognized that the substantial evidence test applied. Slip Op. at 5; App. at 25. The court exhaustively reviewed the evidence, and gave detailed reasoning for upholding the HLJ’s findings against Ms. Shelby. Slip Op. at 8-23; App. at 28-43.

Despite the court’s thorough review of the evidence, Ms. Shelby argues that the Court of Appeals somehow erred by not correctly applying the “clear and convincing” standard under the substantial evidence test. The Court of Appeals properly rejected her argument that a heightened burden of proof somehow alters the substantial evidence test. Slip Op. at 6-7; App. at 26-27.

It is hard to understand the basis for Ms. Shelby's complaint. The HLJ applied the clear and convincing burden of proof to the case against Ms. Shelby, based on this Court's opinion in *Ongom v. Dep't of Health*, 159 Wn.2d 132, 136, 148 P.3d 1029 (2006) (applying clear and convincing standard to licensing action against a nursing assistant). App. at 10. Clear and convincing is the standard favored by Ms. Shelby.

Following the HLJ's decision in *Hardee v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 172 Wn.2d 1, 18, 256 P.3d 339 (2011), this Court expressly overruled the *Ongom* holding that allegations against a licensed nursing assistant must be proven by clear and convincing evidence, meaning that the lesser preponderance of the evidence standard applies. *Id.* The clear and convincing standard has been applied *only* to actions against healthcare professionals who are licensed physicians. *Nguyen v. Dep't of Health*, 144 Wn.2d 516, 518, 29 P.3d 689 (2001). The Department therefore believes that the lower burden of proof should apply to cases against denturists.

In any event, the burden-of-proof issue is not relevant because the HLJ found against Ms. Shelby under the *heightened* clear and convincing standard. And the Court of Appeals upheld the order under the very same standard:

We have already determined that the 16 findings of fact to which Ms. Shelby assigns error are supported by substantial evidence, bearing in mind the clear and convincing standard applied by the health law judge.

Slip Op. at 23; App. at 43. In summary, the Court of Appeals, in finding against Ms. Shelby, applied the substantial evidence test under the clear and convincing standard. Ms. Shelby has no grounds to complain about this approach. This issue provides no reason for this Court to accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

**B. Ms. Shelby's Desire to Have This Court Reweigh the Evidence in Her Case Does Not Present an Issue of Substantial Public Interest**

Ms. Shelby contends that review should be accepted because of “substantial public interest in the issue of whether substantial evidence supports an administrative decision that revokes or suspends a professional license.” Pet. at 8. She claims that she did nothing wrong in her treatment of the patient. Pet. at 3-7.

However, the Benton County Superior Court (App. at 16-20) and Court of Appeals (Slip Op. at 7-23; App. at 27-43) thoroughly reviewed the evidence, and concluded that the HLJ's findings are supported by substantial evidence. Ms. Shelby now requests this Court to conduct a *third* judicial review of the evidence. Whether substantial evidence supports a fact-specific decision, involving a single licensee, is not a